2004

Jimmy Zufelt v. Haste Inc., and Harry Gounaris : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION OF APPELLATE COURT

The Court of Appeals has jurisdiction under Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(j)(2002) over this case, which was transferred from the Supreme Court under Utah Code Ann. §78-2-2(4)(2002). The Supreme Court had original jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §78-2-2(3)(j)(2002)(appeal from final judgment).

ISSUE AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

Issue: Did the trial court erroneously conclude that res judicata barred defendant-appellant Harry Gounaris from asserting defenses on behalf of defendant-appellant Haste, Inc.? (Ruling, dated October 28, 2004) (R. 932-925)(Addendum Exh. 1).

Standard of Review: "A trial court's determination of whether res judicata bars an action 'presents a question of law. We review such questions for correctness, according no particular deference to the trial court.' " Macris & Assocs. v. Neways, Inc., 1999 UT App 230, ¶ 5, 986 P.2d 748 (citation omitted); see also Grynberg v. Questar Pipeline Co., 2003 UT 8, ¶23, 70 P.3d 1 (application of the doctrine of res judicata is a matter of law reviewed for correctness).

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES AND RULES OF CENTRAL IMPORTANCE TO THIS APPEAL

There are no constitutional provisions, statutes or rules of central importance to this appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the case, course of proceedings, disposition in court below

This is a case in which the trial court threw out the baby with the bath water.

Appellant Harry Gounaris owned 50% of certain Notes, and was assigned the other 50% by Steven Kallinikos, who subsequently went bankrupt. The Bankruptcy Court thereafter voided the assignment of *the second 50%* as a preferential transfer. The trial court below, however, thereafter held that Appellant Gounaris owned **no part** of the Notes at all! The court thereby threw out Appellant's original 50% ownership (the baby) with the voided 50% assignment (the bath water).

Ownership of the Notes is critical, because one of the notes is the only remaining asset of Haste, Inc., the company at issue in this litigation. Appellant Gounaris contends that he retained his 50% ownership of the Notes, and hence a beneficial interest in Haste, Inc. Thus, he has standing to assert claims and defenses on behalf of Haste, Inc. The trial court erroneously determined that the Bankruptcy Court's judgment voiding the assignment of the second 50% of the subject Notes as a preferential transfer had the effect, through the doctrine of res judicata, of voiding all of Appellant Gounaris' interest in the Notes--and by extension, all of Appellant Gounaris' interest in Haste, Inc. On that basis, the court held that Appellant Gounaris lacked standing to assert claims or defenses on behalf of Haste, Inc. The trial court therefore granted Appellee Zufelt's motion to strike Haste, Inc.'s pleadings and for the entry of judgment, premised on Appellant Gounaris' lack of standing to assert claims or defenses on behalf of Haste, Inc. This appeal ensued.

Statement of Facts

1. On July 6, 1990, Steven Kallinikos and Harry Gounaris incorporated Haste, Inc. for the purpose of doing business as the "Burger Supreme" restaurant located at 1796 North University Parkway, Provo, Utah. Affidavit of Steven Kallinikos ("Kallinikos Aff.") ¶ 2 (R. 355-56) (Addendum Exh. 2); Affidavit of Harry Gounaris ("Gounaris Aff.") ¶ 2 (R. 347-48)(Addendum Exh. 3).

2. Kallinikos operated Burger Supreme, while Gounaris supplied the capital investment necessary to fund the operations of the restaurant. Kallinikos Aff. ¶ 4 (R. 355) (Addendum Exh. 2); Gounaris Aff. ¶ 3 (R. 347)(Addendum Exh. 3).

3. On or about November 1997, Haste, Inc. sold its assets, including Burger Supreme, to Richard Nuttall in exchange for two notes dated November 1, 1997. The first note, for \$15,000, was made payable to Gounaris and Kallinikos personally ("Nuttall Personal Note"). Gounaris and Kallinikos each had a 50% interest in the Nuttall Personal Note. The second note, for \$72,000, was made to Haste, Inc. ("Nuttall Haste, Inc. Note"). Gounaris and Kallinikos likewise each had a 50% interest in the Nuttall Haste, Inc. Note. Kallinikos Aff. ¶ 6 (R. 355)(Addendum Exh. 2); Gounaris Aff. ¶ 5 (R. 347)(Addendum Exh. 3); Bankr. Ct. Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law ¶ 8 at 2 (R. 468)(Addendum Exh. 4).

5. Only the Nuttall Haste, Inc. Note is at issue in this litigation. Zufelt Mem. 1/17/02 at 10 (R. 300) ("The ... small (Personal) Note ... is not part of this lawsuit.").

6. Haste, Inc. no longer conducted any business after the sale of its assets to Nuttall. Zufelt Mem. 1/17/02 at 9 (R. 301) ("Haste, Inc. no longer conducted any business after the sale of its business to Nuttall."); Kallinikos Aff. ¶ 7 (R. 355)(Addendum Exh. 2); Gounaris Aff. ¶ 6 (R. 347)(Addendum Exh. 3).

7. After the sale of the Haste, Inc. assets to Richard Nuttall, Haste, Inc.'s only asset was the Nuttall Haste, Inc. Note, and its only corporate purpose was to act as recipient of the amounts due thereunder and to distribute the money to Gounaris and Kallinikos. See Kallinikos Aff. ¶ 8 (R. 354-55)(Addendum Exh. 2); Gounaris Aff. ¶ 7 (R. 347)(Addendum Exh. 3).

8. Haste, Inc. continued to receive the payments under the Nuttall Haste, Inc. Note, which were distributed for a time half to Gounaris and half to Kallinikos. However, sometime in 1999, Kallinikos experienced financial difficulty and stopped remitting to Gounaris his portion of the Nuttall Haste, Inc. Note proceeds. Kallinikos Aff. ¶ 9 (R. 354)(Addendum Exh. 2); Gounaris Aff. ¶ 8 (R. 346)(Addendum Exh. 3); Bankr. Ct. Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law ¶ 9 at 3 (R. 468)(Addendum Exh. 4).

9. In March 1998, unbeknownst to Gounaris, Kallinikos executed a Lease Agreement with Appellee Zufelt. Kallinikos Aff. ¶ 10 (R. 354)(Addendum Exh. 2); Gounaris Aff. ¶ 9 (R. 346)(Addendum Exh. 3).

10. Although the Lease Agreement between Kallinikos and Zufelt indicates that Haste, Inc. entered into the lease, Kallinikos entered the lease personally, without informing Gounaris, and without authority from Haste, Inc. Kallinikos Aff. ¶ 11 (R. 354)(Addendum

Exh. 2); Gounaris Aff. ¶ 10 (R. 346)(Addendum Exh. 3).

11. The Lease Agreement was personally guaranteed by Kallinikos. Zufelt Mem. 1/17/02 Ex. A at 1 (R. 294).

12. Kallinikos intended to start a new restaurant business on the leased premises. Kallinikos Aff. ¶ 10 (R. 354)(Addendum Exh. 2).

13. The new business venture started by Kallinikos on the leased premises provided no benefit to Gounaris or to Haste, Inc. Kallinikos Aff. ¶ 10 (R. 354)(Addendum Exh. 2); Gounaris Aff. ¶ 9 (R. 346)(Addendum Exh. 3).

14. In April, 1999, Kallinikos abandoned the leased premises. Kallinikos Aff. ¶ 12 (R. 354)(Addendum Exh. 2).

15. In May and June 1999, Gounaris took out an equity line-of-credit loan on his home and used the money to lend Kallinikos an additional \$20,000. Kallinikos Aff. ¶ 13 (R. 353)(Addendum Exh. 2); Gounaris Aff. ¶ 11 (R. 346)(Addendum Exh. 3); Zufelt Mem. 1/17/02 at Exh. C (cancelled checks on Gounaris' home equity line of credit) (R. 255-56).

16. In addition to the \$20,000 loan, Kallinikos owed Gounaris back payments for the proceeds from the Nuttal Haste Inc. Note and the Nuttal Personal Note that Kallinikos had neglected to forward to Gounaris. Kallinikos Aff. ¶ 9 (R. 354)(Addendum Exh. 2); Gounaris Aff. ¶ 11 (R. 346)(Addendum Exh. 3).

17. Zufelt knew that Kallinikos alone stood behind the Lease Agreement because Kallinikos explained exactly that to Zufelt. Kallinikos Aff. ¶ 14 (R. 353)(Addendum Exh. 2).

18. Kallinikos never told Zufelt that Haste, Inc. assets were available to satisfy Kallinikos' obligations pursuant to the Lease Agreement. Kallinikos Aff. ¶ 14 (R. 353)(Addendum Exh. 2).

19. As a result, in October 1999, Zufelt negotiated a compromise with Kallinikos personally (not with Haste, Inc.) for the amounts due and owing under the Lease Agreement as of April 1999, when Kallinikos abandoned the premises. Kallinikos Aff. ¶ 14 (R. 353)(Addendum Exh. 2).

20. Zufelt did not look to Haste, Inc. to satisfy the amounts due and owing pursuant to the Lease Agreement Kallinikos entered into with Zufelt. Kallinikos Aff. ¶ 14 (R. 353)(Addendum Exh. 2).

21. In order to compromise the amount owed to Zufelt by Kallinikos, on October 19, 1999, Kallinikos executed a personal Promissory Note [hereinafter "Kallinikos Compromise Promissory Note"] in favor of Zufelt. Kallinikos Aff. ¶ 15 (R. 353)(Addendum Exh. 2).

22. The Kallinikos Compromise Promissory Note obligates only Kallinikos, not Haste, Inc. See Zufelt Mem. 1/17/02 Ex. B at 1 (identifying only Kallinikos as the maker of the Kallinikos Compromise Promissory Note) (R. 280).

23. By the Kallinikos Compromise Promissory Note, Zufelt and Kallinikos intended to resolve all obligations pursuant to the Lease Agreement. Kallinikos Aff. ¶ 15 (R. 353)(Addendum Exh. 2).

24. On or about February 2000, Gounaris demanded that Kallinikos repay the \$20,000 Gounaris had loaned to him in 1999, as well as to account for money received by Kallinikos on the Nuttall Personal Note and the Nuttall Haste, Inc. Note that should have gone to Gounaris but was instead converted by Kallinikos. Kallinikos Aff. ¶ 16 (R. 352-53)(Addendum Exh. 2); Gounaris Aff. ¶ 13 (R. 345)(Addendum Exh. 3).

25. Kallinikos was unable to repay Gounaris except through an assignment of Kallinikos' remaining 50% interest in the Nuttall Personal Note and in the Nuttall Haste, Inc. Note. Thus, on February 25, 2000, Kallinikos assigned his remaining 50% interest in both the Nuttall Personal Note and the Nuttall Haste, Inc. Note to Gounaris. See Kallinikos Aff. ¶ 17 (R. 352)(Addendum Exh. 2); Gounaris Aff. ¶ 14 (R. 345)(Addendum Exh. 3); Bankr. Ct. Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law ¶16 at 4 (R. 466)(Addendum Exh. 4).

26. On February 13, 2001, Kallinikos filed for bankruptcy protection. (R. 468).

27. On June 18, 2001, Stephen W. Rupp, the Trustee for the bankruptcy estate of Kallinikos ("Trustee") filed an adversary proceeding in the Kallinikos bankruptcy alleging that the assignment by Kallinikos of his interest in the Nuttall Personal Note and the Nuttall Haste, Inc. Note to Gounaris constituted preferential transfers and should be avoided. See Bankr. Ct. Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law (R. 469)(Addendum Exh. 4). Significantly, the Trustee did not allege Kallinikos owned and had assigned 100% of Haste, Inc. to Gounaris, but only that Kallinikos "assigned a 50% interest in two promissory notes to Harry Gounaris ... and that the assignment was avoidable as a preferential transfer... ." (R. 469).

28. On July 25, 2002, the Bankruptcy Court made findings of fact and conclusions of law and entered an order avoiding the transfer of Kallinikos' 50% interest in the Nuttall Personal Note and in the Nuttall Haste, Inc. Note to Gounaris as preferential transfers pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 547. See Bankr. Ct. Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law (R. 469)(Addendum Exh. 4).

29. Significantly, however, the Bankruptcy Court specifically ordered that *only Kallinikos' interest* in the Nuttall Personal Note and the Nuttall Haste, Inc. Note were recaptured back into Kallinikos' bankruptcy estate. See id. at 4 (R. 466)("Finding 17. [Kallinikos] transferred **his interest** in the Notes to [Gounaris]... .")(emphasis added); id at 5 (R. 465)("...the principle(sic) balance due on the Haste, Inc. note was \$54,749.52, and on the [Nuttall Personal] note was \$11, 724.54. Half of the balances of the two notes ... was \$33,207.03 (sic: \$33,237.03)"); Bankr. Ct. Judgment (R. 452)(Addendum Exh. 5)("the Debtor's interest"); see also Trustee's Notice of Bankruptcy Court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Judgment at 2 (R. 470)("By this Notice, the bankruptcy Trustee hereby gives notice to this Court and the parties in this litigation of the bankruptcy estate's **one-half interest** and ownership of the two notes...")(emphasis added).

30. On July 16, 2002, the Trustee moved to intervene in the District Court below. At the same time, the Trustee moved the District Court to strike the pleadings filed by Haste, Inc. and for entry of default judgment against Haste, Inc. See Trustee's Motion to Intervene, Motion to Strike, Motion for Entry of Default Judgment (R. 415).

31. On April 4, 2003, the District Court granted only the Trustee's Motion to Intervene. See Minute Entry, April 4, 2003 (R. 544); Order, August 8, 2003 (R. 698).

32. On May 16, 2003, the Trustee renewed his motion to strike Haste, Inc.'s pleadings and to enter default against Haste, Inc., arguing that Appellant Gounaris lacked standing to assert defenses on behalf of Haste, Inc. See Trustee's Motion to Intervene, Motion to Strike, Motion for Entry of Default Judgment (R. 562). The Court denied the Trustee's motion to strike Haste, Inc.'s pleadings and also denied entry of default judgment against Haste, Inc. See Minutes of Hearing, August 8, 2003 (R. 692)("Mr. Rupp addresses the Court regarding the motion to strike...The Court finds there are issues of fact remaining and denies this motion."); see also Order, August 8, 2003 (R. 698)(only intervention granted).

33. On June 1, 2004, and for the third go-around, Zufelt filed an identical motion to strike Haste, Inc.'s pleadings and for the entry of judgment based on a lack of standing by Gounaris to assert defenses on behalf of Haste, Inc. See Zufelt's Motion to Strike or Dismiss or for Entry of Judgment (R. 824 (motion); R. 851 (supporting memorandum)).

34. On October 28, 2004, the Court granted Zufelt's motion. The Court's ruling was predicated on the application of res judicata regarding the issue of who owned Haste, Inc. The Court concluded that Appellant Gounaris had litigated the ownership issue in the adversary proceeding in Bankruptcy Court and that the Bankruptcy Court had concluded that Kallinikos was 100% owner of Haste, Inc.--thereby nullifying the original 50% interest in the Nuttall Haste, Inc. Note that unquestionably belonged to Gounaris all along. Based on that conclusion, the Court ruled that Gounaris lacked standing to assert defenses on behalf

of Haste, Inc., struck Haste, Inc.'s pleadings and granted the previously denied Motion for Summary Judgment against Appellants Gounaris and Haste, Inc. (R. 932--925)("Ruling").

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The District Court erroneously concluded that the doctrine of res judicata barred Gounaris from asserting defenses on behalf of his co-defendant Haste, Inc. Kallinikos filed for bankruptcy on February 13, 2001. The Trustee in bankruptcy filed an adversary proceeding against Gounaris asserting that the assignments of the Nuttall Haste, Inc. Note and the Nuttall Personal Note to Gounaris were preferential transfers and should be set aside. The Bankruptcy Court agreed with the Trustee and on July 25, 2002 issued an order and judgment holding the assignments of the notes were avoidable under Bankruptcy Code Section 547 as preferential transfers.

Misinterpreting the Bankruptcy Court's order, the District Court below concluded that res judicata barred Gounaris from claiming an ownership interest in Haste, Inc. And since Gounaris thus was held to lack an ownership interest in Haste, Inc., the Court ruled further that he lacked standing to assert defenses on Haste, Inc.'s behalf. The District Court's conclusions were clearly erroneous. First, the issue of Haste, Inc. ownership was not addressed by the Bankruptcy Court. The issue thus was not "completely, fully and fairly litigated" in the bankruptcy court as required for the application of res judicata. Consequently, res judicata has no application.

Second, and quite contrary to the District Court's basis for finding res judicata applied, to the extent the bankruptcy court even tangentially touched on the issue of ownership of

Haste, Inc., the bankruptcy court found that Gounaris was indeed an owner. Most significantly, the Bankruptcy Court's ultimate ruling in the adversary proceeding supports the conclusion that Gounaris owns one-half of Haste, Inc. As an owner of Haste, Inc., Gounaris has standing to assert defenses on behalf of Haste Inc., and the District Court's judgment finding otherwise should be reversed.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT IMPROPERLY APPLIED THE DOCTRINE OF RES JUDICATA BECAUSE THE ISSUE OF GOUNARIS' OWNERSHIP INTEREST IN HASTE, INC. WAS NOT "IDENTICAL" TO ANY ISSUE RAISED IN THE BANKRUPTCY COURT, AND BECAUSE SUCH ISSUE WAS NOT "COMPLETELY, FULLY AND FAIRLY LITIGATED" IN THE BANKRUPTCY COURT

The District Court improperly applied the doctrine of res judicata to conclude that Gounaris lacked an ownership interest in Haste, Inc. First, that issue was not "identical" to any issue determined by the bankruptcy court. Second, even if that issue *had* been presented to the bankruptcy court, it was not "completely, fully and fairly litigated" in that court. For each of these two independent reasons, res judicata does not apply.

"The doctrine of res judicata serves the important policy of preventing previously litigated issues from being re-litigated." Miller v. USAA Cas. Ins. Co., 2002 UT 6, ¶ 57, 44 P.3d 63. The doctrine describes the binding effect of a previous adjudication on a current adjudication. See Salt Lake City v. Silver Fork Pipeline Corp., 913 P.2d 731, 733 (Utah 1995); 18 Charles Alan Wright et al., *Federal Practice and Procedure* § 4402 (1981). The general term "res judicata" is an umbrella concept that refers to two distinct branches of the doctrine: claim preclusion and issue preclusion. See Macris & Assocs., Inc. v. Neways, Inc.,

2000 UT 93, ¶ 19, 16 P.3d 1214 (citing Swainston v. Intermountain Health Care, 766 P.2d 1059, 1061 (Utah 1988)). Claim preclusion applies where both cases involve the same parties or their privies. Macris, 2000 UT 93, ¶ 20. Issue preclusion applies where the issue litigated is identical in both actions, although the parties are not. Id. ¶ 19. Because Appellee Zufelt was not a party to the adversary proceeding in the bankruptcy court, the District Court's application of res judicata concerned issue preclusion.

Issue preclusion can yield unjust results if applied without reasonable consideration and due care. Parklane Hosiery Co. Inc. v. Shore, 4339 U.S. 322, 330-31 (1979). In this case the burden of establishing that issue preclusion applies is on Zufelt. Ruling at 4 (R. 929)(Addendum Exh. 1)(citing PGM, Inc. v. Westchester Investment Partners, Ltd., 2000 UT App 20, ¶ 5, 995 P.2d 1252); see also Mel Trimbel Real Estate v. Monte Vista Ranch, Inc., 758 P.2d 451, 453-55 (Utah App. 1998).

The District Court held that issue preclusion precluded Appellant Gounaris from asserting that he had an ownership interest in Haste, Inc., and that therefore, Gounaris lacked standing to assert claims or defenses on behalf of Haste, Inc. Ruling at 4 (R. 929)(Addendum Exh. 1). In order for issue preclusion to apply to prevent a party from re-litigating an issue previously decided by another court, four elements must be met:

(i) the party against whom issue preclusion is asserted must have been a party or in privity with a party to the prior adjudication; (ii) the issue decided in the prior adjudication must be identical to the one presented in the instant action; (iii) the issue in the first action must have been completely, fully and fairly litigated; and (iv) the first suit must have resulted in a final judgment on the merits.

Gynberg v. Questar Pipeline Co., 2003 UT 8, ¶ 23, 70 P.3d 1; Snyder v. Murray City Corp.,

2003 UT 13, ¶ 35, 73 P.3d 325; Timm v. Dewsnap, 851 P.2d 1178, 1184 (Utah 1993); Searle Bros. v. Searle, 588 P.2d 689, 691 (Utah 1978). If any one of these elements is not present, then issue preclusion is inappropriate. Hill v. Seattle First Nat'l Bank, 827 P.2d 241, 245 (Utah 1992). Here, the issues addressed in the Bankruptcy Court are not "identical" to the ownership interest ruled upon by the District Court. Moreover, the issue of ownership of Haste, Inc. was not "completely, fully and fairly litigated" in the Bankruptcy Court. Consequently, the District Court improperly applied issue preclusion to the issue of Gounaris' ownership in Haste, Inc.

A. The issue of Gounaris' ownership interest in Haste, Inc. was not "identical" to any issue raised in the Bankruptcy Court

Issue preclusion requires that the factual issue decided in the prior action must be identical to the factual issue presented in the second action. Robertson v. Campbell, 674 P.2d 1226, 1230 n.1 (Utah 1983). The issues must be "precisely the same." Wilde v. Mid-Century Ins. Co., 635 P.2d 417, 419 (Utah 1981); accord Schaer v. Utah Dep't of Transportation, 657 P.2d 1337, 1341 (Utah 1983)(holding issues litigated in a prior proceeding must be "precisely the same" as those raised in the present action).

The District Court found that "the Bankruptcy Court heard evidence and made findings regarding [Gounaris'] ownership interest in Haste, Inc." Ruling at 5 (R. 928)(Addendum Exh. 1). That simply is not the case. On the contrary, the Bankruptcy Court expressly stated:

"no documentation has been offered to indicate when or how [Gounaris] relinquished his ownership interest in Haste, Inc."

Bankr. Ct. Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law ¶23 at 5(R. 465)(Addendum Exh. 4).

The issue that *was* decided by the Bankruptcy Court was whether the transfers to Gounaris of *Kallinikos' interest* in the Nuttall Haste, Inc. Note and the Nuttall Personal Note were preferential transfers and avoidable under the bankruptcy code. See Bankr. Ct. Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law (R. 469)(Addendum Exh. 4). Specifically, the Bankruptcy Court found: a transfer of Debtor's property occurred; Gounaris "was a creditor of the Debtor"; the transfer occurred within one year of Debtor's Chapter 7 filing; the Debtor was insolvent at the time; and Gounaris was an insider. Id. at 10-14 (R. 460-456). The issue of who owned Haste, Inc., was neither a finding nor a conclusion reached by the Bankruptcy Court. That issue simply was not addressed by the Bankruptcy Court.

This case is similar to Schaer v. Utah Dep't of Transportation, 657 P.2d 1337 (Utah 1983), in which the Court addressed the application of issue preclusion to a determination that the dugway road was a public thoroughfare. The Utah Department of Transportation (UDOT) argued that issue preclusion prevented a property owner from asserting that the dugway road was a public thoroughfare because in a prior suit, the property owner had claimed severance damages resulting from a condemnation proceeding in which the property owner claimed his property was effectively landlocked. Id. at 1338. UDOT asserted that the Court's prior ruling that the property owner's land was landlocked implied a finding that the dugway road was not a public thoroughfare, and that therefore, the doctrine of issue preclusion prevented the property owner from re-litigating the issue. Id. at 1340. The Utah Supreme Court rejected UDOT's argument.

The Schaer case emphasized that the relevant inquiry is "whether the issues actually litigated in the first action are precisely the same as those raised in the present action." Id. at 1341 (quoting Wilde v. Mid-Century Insurance Co., 635 P.2d 417, 419 (Utah 1981)(emphasis added); see also American Interstate Mortgage Corp. v. Edwards, 2002 UT App 16, ¶ 34, 41 P.3d 1142 (identical issues that were not fully litigated in prior proceeding not subject to issue preclusion). "[T]he doctrine of [issue preclusion] 'does not apply to issues that merely could have been tried' in the prior case, but operates *only to issues which were actually asserted and tried* in that case." Id. at 1341 (quoting International Resources v. Dunfield, 599 P.2d 515, 517 (1979)(emphasis in original). The Utah Supreme Court concluded in Schaer that the prior proceeding did not "rule conclusively on the status of the dugway road," and as a result, the Court held that issue preclusion was inapplicable. Id. The same situation is present here.

The District Court itself recognized that the Bankruptcy Court had not addressed the identical issue. In its Order, the District Court "notes that while the Bankruptcy Court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law may not address the precise issue with perfect clarity, the Court finds that reasonable conclusions can be drawn from the testimony and evidence presented before the Bankruptcy Court..." Ruling at 5-6 (R. 928-27)(Addendum Exh. 1). The Utah Supreme Court in Schaer held that issue preclusion requires much more. The Court in Schaer held it improper to make inferences and piecemeal conclusions based on a prior decision. Schaer, 657 P.2d at 1341. The *identical* issue must have been decided by the Bankruptcy Court for issue preclusion to apply here. It was not. Hence, issue preclusion

does not apply.

B. The issue of Gounaris' ownership interest in Haste, Inc. was not "fully and fairly litigated" in the Bankruptcy Court

Even assuming *ex arguendo* that the issue of Gounaris' ownership interest in Haste, Inc. was raised in the Bankruptcy Court, it certainly was not "completely, fully and fairly" litigated there. In order for an issue to be "completely, fully and fairly litigated," as required for the application of res judicata, it must have been "actually litigated" in the first action. Aragon v. Clover Club Foods Co., 857 P.2d 250, 254 n.6 (Utah App. 1993); International Resources v. Dunfield, 599 P.2d 515, 517 (1979)(issue preclusion operates only to issues which were actually asserted and tried in the prior case). The issues actually litigated in the first suit must have been essential to the resolution of that action. Robertson v. Campbell, 674 P.2d 1226, 1230 (Utah 1983). That is not the case here.

The Bankruptcy Court did not resolve the broad issue of ownership of Haste, Inc. subsequent to Kallinikos' bankruptcy--much less the narrower issue of Gounaris' ownership interest in Haste, Inc. In fact, it was completely unnecessary for the Bankruptcy Court to examine the Haste, Inc. ownership question at all in order for the Court to reach the conclusion that the assignment of Kallinikos' interest in the Nuttall Personal Note and the Nuttall Haste, Inc. Note constituted preferential transfers. Quite simply, the ownership of Haste, Inc. was not "essential to the resolution" of the adversary proceeding. Robertson, 674 P.2d at 1230.

The Bankruptcy Court *did hold* that the assignment of Kallinikos interest in the Nuttall Personal Note and the Nuttall Haste, Inc. Note to Gounaris were preferential transfers

pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 547. Under Section 547 of the Bankruptcy Code, a transfer is avoidable if it: (1) is of an interest of the debtor in property; (2) is for the benefit of a creditor; (3) is made for or on account of an antecedent debt owed by the debtor before the transfer was made; (4) is made while the debtor is insolvent; (5) is made on or within ninety days before the date the bankruptcy petition was filed; and (6) allows the creditor to receive more than the creditor would otherwise be entitled to receive from the bankruptcy estate. See In re Ogden, 314 F.3d 1190, 1196 (10th Cir. 2002)(citing 11 U.S.C. § 547 (b)). The Bankruptcy Court Order addressed each of these elements. Bankr. Ct. Conclusions of Law at 10-15 (R. 460-55)(Addendum Exh. 4). The judgment goes no further. In fact, the Bankruptcy Court even refused to determine whether the transfers in question were avoidable under other sections of the Bankruptcy Code or whether the transfers violated the Utah Fraudulent Transfer Act. Id. at 15 (R. 455).

Plainly, the issue of Gounaris' ownership interest in Haste, Inc. was not an issue "actually litigated" in the Bankruptcy proceeding. Thus, on its face, the Bankruptcy Court's Order demonstrates that the ownership issue was not "completely, fully and fairly" litigated in the Bankruptcy Court.

II. TO THE EXTENT THE BANKRUPTCY COURT ADDRESSED THE ISSUE OF OWNERSHIP OF HASTE, INC., THE COURT CONCLUDED GOUNARIS WAS AN OWNER

The Bankruptcy Court's findings and conclusions preclude the application of res judicata because to the extent the court addressed the issue of ownership of Haste, Inc., the Court concluded that Gounaris *was* an owner of the company.

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