2004

Jimmy Zufelt v. Haste Inc. and Harry Gounaris : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The District Court properly applied the doctrine of collateral estoppel (issue preclusion) to Zufelt’s Motion. The application of this doctrine reflects the refusal of courts to tolerate pointless litigation and is based on the premise that the proper administration of justice is best served by limiting parties to one fair trial of an issue or cause.⁴ Issue preclusion has four elements. They are: (1) The identity of issues challenged in the previous action; (2) a decision on the issue(s) on the merits pursuant to a final judgment; (3) the issue must have been fully, fairly and competently litigated (4) the party against whom collateral estoppel is sought must have been either a party or privy to a party in the previous action. *Macris & Associates, Inc., v. Neways, Inc.*, 16 P.3d 1214, 1222 (Utah 2000).⁵

In determining whether claims are identical for purposes of the application of collateral estoppel, (the second branch of res judicata) an appellate court focuses on

⁴ Even the most cursory review of the file and record in this case reveals the litigiousness, futility, costliness and protracted nature of this litigation. No motion or proposed order went uncontested in this litigation.

⁵ Appellants only contest the first and third issues.

“whether the two causes of action rest on a different state of facts and evidence of a different kind or character is necessary to sustain the two causes of action.” *Macris*, at p. 1221. Clearly the action in the Bankruptcy Court involved the identical facts, i.e., an avoidance action of the assignment of the same Notes which Zufelt likewise sought to avoid in the state court action. Moreover, the evidence presented in both the Bankruptcy Court Action and the state court action focused on whether Gounaris was an owner of Haste stock or whether Gounaris had made a loan to Kallinikos.⁶

Defendants are or should be judicially estopped from seeking judicial relief by offering statements inconsistent with their own sworn statements in a prior judicial proceeding. See *Salt Lake City V. Silver Fork Pipeline*, 913 P.2d 731, 734 (Utah 1995). Kallinikos swore in his affidavit (Appellant’s Brief, Exhibit 2, pp. 4-5) that Gounaris had “loaned” him \$20,000. Gounaris swore in his affidavit that he “loaned substantial sums to the company...” (Appellant’s Brief, Exhibit 3, p. 2, paragraph 4). In the trial before the Bankruptcy Court, Kallinikos and Gounaris testified that the “transfer of the \$20,000 from the Defendant to the Debtor was not a loan, but instead represented payment on the sale of the Debtor’s interests in the Notes to Defendant.” (Appellant’s Brief, Exhibit 4, p. 3, paragraph 13).

⁶ The Bankruptcy Court found that Gounaris had made a loan and that Gounaris’s testimony was conflicting and not forthcoming with respect to his stock ownership or the transfer of the Notes. (Appellant’s Brief, Exhibit 4, pp. 5-6).

ARGUMENT

1. **THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY APPLIED THE DOCTRINE OF ISSUE PRECLUSION BECAUSE THERE WAS AN IDENTITY OF ISSUES AND THE ISSUES WERE COMPLETELY, FULLY AND FAIRLY LITIGATED.**

The District Court utilized the correct and appropriate analysis in finding and concluding that Defendants have no standing and striking the pleadings. In so doing the District Court utilized the doctrine of collateral estoppel. The Ruling of the District Court (Appellant's Brief, Exhibit 1) reflects ample consideration and proper application of the four part test enunciated in *Macris*. However, Appellants only contest the first and third elements of said test.

Appellant's first argument is that the issue of Gounaris' ownership interest in Haste was not "identical" to any issue raised in the Bankruptcy Court (Appellant's Brief, p. 13). This test is known as the "identity of facts or evidence test." *Macris*, at p. 1221 citing to 46 Am. Jur.2d Judgments Section 534 (1994). The Utah Supreme Court, for purposes of the identity of facts or evidence test has focused **first** on whether the two causes of action rest of a different state of facts and **second** on whether evidence of a different kind or character is necessary to sustain the two causes of action. *See Macris* at 1221.

It is or should be unequivocally clear that both the Bankruptcy Court action and the state court action rested or hinged upon avoidance of the transfer or assignment of the same Notes. Second, the nature of the action in the Bankruptcy Court was a fraudulent or

preferential transfer under either the Utah Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act (U.C.A. Section 25-6-5 and 25-6-6(2) or the Bankruptcy Code. The nature of the evidence in Zufelt's Complaint was similarly a fraudulent conveyance within the meaning of U.C.A. Section 25-1-1. (Amended Complaint, Fourth Cause of Action).

Subsequent to the *Macris* opinion the Utah Court of Appeals decided the case of *American Interstate Mortg. Corp. v. Edwards*, 41 P.3d 1142, (Utah App. 2002). In *American* the Court stated "The Macris court also stated that 'if an issue is actually raised by proper pleadings and treated as an issue in a case, it is conclusively determined by the first judgment.' *American*, at p. 1151. The stock ownership issue was actually raised by the pleadings in the Bankruptcy Court. (The Bankruptcy Court's Finding No. 23 indicates that Gounaris was given the opportunity to prove his ownership in Haste but failed to do so. See Findings No. 10-16 wherein the Bankruptcy Court found Gounaris' testimony self serving and lacking credibility). The stock ownership issue was treated as an issue in the Bankruptcy case.⁷ The stock ownership issue was conclusively determined by the first judgment in the Bankruptcy Court.

Appellant's second argument is that the issue of Gounaris' stock ownership in Haste was not fully and fairly litigated. (Appellant's Brief, p. 16). It is clear that the Bankruptcy Court heard and considered ample testimony from both Defendants

⁷ Appellants concede in their Reply Memorandum in Support of Defendant's Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's Second Cause of Action as Stated in Plaintiff's Second Amended Complaint that (Exhibit 4 hereto) that Plaintiff's second cause of action has been fully adjudicated in the bankruptcy Court.

concerning the characterization of their interests as either loans or equitable interests. See Findings, (Appellant's Brief, Exhibit 4) No. 3, (finding that Gounaris "was" at one time a stock holder in Haste) No. 8, (Defendant owned a 50% interest in Haste—past tense) No.s 10-16, (Defendant gave inconsistent and conflicting testimony regarding the transfer of the Notes, waffling between characterizing the transfers as loans or interests) No. 24, (the Debtor only had a 50% interest in Haste) No. 39, (no equity existed in Haste, Inc., for either the Debtor or the Defendant). Finally, the Bankruptcy Court found that Gounaris' interest, if any, was that of a creditor.⁸

II GOUNARIS IS JUDICIALLY ESTOPPED FROM NOW ASSERTING THAT HE HELD AN EQUITY INTEREST IN HASTE

The doctrine of judicial estoppel should be applied to prevent Defendants from benefitting by their unscrupulous behavior and testimony both in the state court action and before the Bankruptcy Court. "The principle of judicial estoppel prevents a party [Gounaris] from seeking judicial relief by offering statement[s] inconsistent with its own sworn statement[s] in a prior judicial proceeding." *Salt Lake City v. Silver Fork Pipeline*, 913 P.2d 731, 733 (Utah 1995). It is clear that Defendants proffered sworn testimony in their affidavits (Appellant's Brief, Exhibits 2-3) in the state court action which was inconsistent with their testimony before the Bankruptcy Court. (Appellant's Brief, Exhibit 4, Findings, 10-5, 48, and Conclusions of Law) The Bankruptcy Court was offended by